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  “There is no evidence to indicate that any American POWs from the Indochina conflict remain alive. . . .”

  Quoted from the U.S. Presidential Commission Report, released by the White House on March 23, 1977, and endorsed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Socialist Republic of Vietnam, in a 1980 study entitled: The Question of Americans Missing in the Vietnam War.


  
OVERVIEW

  THE STORY

  I was pregnant with my first child when this story began with an episode I produced for CBS TV News’s 60 Minutes. Soon my daughter will be six years old. I am aghast at how she has gone through so many stages since I produced that segment about men who might be dead or alive. For Americans who are among the missing, though, whole lifetimes have passed. Their children are fully grown.

  My 60 Minutes report, aired during the Christmas season of 1985, looked at the possibility that U.S. government spokesmen were not telling the whole truth about men and women of the armed forces being left behind in Vietnam when they said that there was no credible proof that prisoners had been kept by the enemy. President Richard Nixon had promised, on January 23, 1973, that with a ceasefire imminent “all American prisoners-of-war [POWs] throughout Indochina will be released” with “the fullest possible accounting for all those who are missing-in-action [MIAs].” MIAs are American servicemen who were involved in specific battles with the enemy, but who were not acknowledged officially to have been either killed in action (KIA) or taken prisoner by them. In many cases, I found later, their capture and imprisonment was monitored by U.S. intelligence.

  I had stirred up a hornets’ nest. From all over the United States, and later from abroad, came letters and telephone calls from Vietnam veterans, families of the missing, and serving officers who said they were relieved that finally a powerful news outlet had the courage to deal with a great national scandal.

  The last thing I had in mind while preparing the television news-magazine segment was to expose an American scandal. I was so innocent that when I got calls from a National Security Council colonel in the White House to drop the story, weeks before I had completed the necessary interviews, I failed to take his threats seriously. My knowledge of Vietnam was limited to what I had read in the newspapers at the time (much of it forgotten) and to wearing a POW bracelet while I was a student at the University of Wisconsin. The emotional impact went no further than my distress over the disappearance of my friend Lance Sijan, a Phantom pilot who behaved with incredible heroism after he was shot down near Hanoi. For me, “the longest war in American history” had no clearly defined beginning or end.

  However, when I began to research the story, I found that much of the background of the POW/MIA issue was already on the record. There were said to be 2,497 unaccounted for by the 1980s, but the figure fluctuated. I quickly learned that President Nixon’s promise had not been kept. When prisoners were officially released in the early months of 1973 the enemy gave virtually no accounting of the missing in action. The North Vietnamese released 591 men – far less than anyone expected.

  Among those unaccounted for were prisoners lost during the secret war in Laos. It had been a long though unacknowledged war. When French rule ended in 1954, the enemy had used terrorism and treachery. He routinely exploited neutral territories in Laos and Cambodia to smuggle weapons into South Vietnam – against international agreements. But the U.S. had responded in kind since 1958, six years before Congress passed the 1964 Tonkin Gulf Resolution that formalized U.S. entry into Vietnam. The secret “war” in Laos continued throughout the Vietnam conflict.

  In January of 1973, just before the Vietnam peace accords were signed, the Pentagon books carried the names of 317 men missing in Laos. At the same time U.S. government spokesmen were quoted as saying they believed the number was much higher. The Communist Pathet Lao spokesman, Soth Petrasy, told reporters that the Pathet Lao had a detailed accounting of prisoners and where they were being held. He insisted that they would be released only if there was a separate truce agreement between Laos and the United States. Some headlines of the day tell the story: “Pathet Lao says no truce, no American POWs,” “Fate of U.S. POWs still a mystery,” and “U.S. demands list of POWs in Laos.” But the Pathet Lao, were not part of the negotiations for the release of prisoners.

  Secretary of State Henry Kissinger insisted to the public that prisoners in Laos would be returned by Hanoi. He maintained this stance despite the fact that Bui Tin, chief spokesman for the North Vietnamese, also insisted the United States must deal for prisoners held in Laos with the Pathet Lao. Tin said, “We clearly reiterate our position that the question of persons captured in Laos is within the sovereign power of Laos and beyond the competence of the four part joint military commission.” Despite evidence to the contrary, Kissinger said he had been told there were no POWs in Cambodia.*

  Just before the release of the last group of prisoners from Hanoi after peace terms in March of 1973, the Pathet Lao, in a statement laced with undertones of malice, agreed to the release of nine Americans captured by the Vietcong in Laos. Their agreement was redundant. All nine had been captured by, and were in the hands of, the North Vietnamese. No single prisoner captured by the Pathet Lao was ever released. On April 14 Roger Shields, the Pentagon’s Prisoner of War Task Force chief, said “there were probably no more live American soldiers loose anywhere in Indochina.” Families of the missing claim it was a statement he would later say had been forced on him. Shields said, further, that there was no evidence that any POWs (with three exceptions) had been executed during the war years. So where were the 371 and possibly more men known by the U.S. government to have been captured by the Pathet Lao? There was no answer from any of the governments involved.

  The families of these men had become alarmed when, on June 8, 1973, a North Vietnamese defector named Nguyen Thanh Son surfaced. He told AP, UPI, and NBC correspondents that he had seen six prisoners. He believed they were Americans who had not yet been released. An American officer present at the interview requested that news services play down the details. Soon after I began questioning families of MIAs about this press conference, I received a copy of a State Department declassified telegram which persuaded me that the National Security Council move to stop my story was not the first time attempts had been made to silence the media. The telegram, sent from the U.S. embassy in Saigon to Washington, said, “In follow on [defector Nguyen Thanh Son] . . . AP mention was consistent with embargo request, while UPI and NBC after talk with embassy press officer omitted item entirely from their stories.”

  Missing from the group of men who were returned by the North Vietnamese were over fifty men known by the U.S. government to have been captured and held prisoner at one time or another. Beyond that there was a large number of men suspected of having been captured by the North Vietnamese. Many returning prisoners had seen such men being taken captive or displayed to Vietnamese villagers, but they had never been seen in the prison system. I would learn later that the U.S. government had a list of over one thousand such men – a list that included detailed knowledge of their capture, physical condition, and whereabouts until 1975, when Saigon fell. The United States was able to obtain such information on its prisoners through electronic eavesdropping and its extensive network of Vietnamese agents.

  Other prisoners who were not acknowledged were all those whose existence had not been verified by returning prisoners. According to some intelligence analysts who tracked prisoners, the U.S. government knew that many were kept in remote prison camps, although it listed such men in the MIA category. Some of those prisons and camps were especially geared for technical talents – highly skilled American servicemen who had expertise in fields like electronic warfare, about which the North Vietnamese and their Soviet and Chinese allies needed information. Some of those special talents were put to work in highly secret North Vietnamese war projects; others were farmed out to the Soviet Union or China. Amputees, the emotionally disturbed, and other seriously maimed prisoners were kept in special camps from which not one prisoner returned. Most astounding, some prisoners were actually hidden in the main prison compounds in Hanoi. One such man, Air Force Colonel Norman Gaddis, who was shot down on May 12, 1967, did appear on the 1973 list of returnees – unexpectedly. He had never been accounted for by the Vietnamese. Yet for almost four and a half years he was kept in a section of the prison known as “Heartbreak Hotel”. In all that time no other American prisoner had seen him. If he had not finally been spotted by other prisoners after the Vietnamese moved POWs and consolidated them in several key locations because of the attempted Son Tay raid to rescue prisoners on November 21, 1970, Gaddis would probably have ended up an MIA.

  I learned of another group who never came home. Hearing of 60 Minutes’ plan for a segment on MIAs, a few families contacted me about a subject they had held close to their hearts for twelve years. Their men had been sent on missions, primarily in Laos and Cambodia, after the peace accords were signed on January 27, 1973. Some of these men had voiced their objections to base commanders, because they feared that if they were caught by the enemy in contravention of the Geneva Agreements, they would be charged as war criminals. The families who came to me had excellent intelligence information that their men had not been killed in action but had been captured.

  After the ceasefire, the U.S. had demanded from the Vietnamese and the Laotians lists of all prisoners on their records. It was made clear that the Vietnamese were expected to return all prisoners captured by their allies. I was shocked when I was told that some of those prisoners, captured in Laos after the ceasefire and known by the U.S. negotiating team, through the efforts of U.S. intelligence eavesdroppers, to be alive and in captivity, were first pencilled in on the list of prisoners that were demanded from the Vietnamese and then crossed off. To acknowledge them would have meant acknowledging the continuing involvement of the United States in covert wars in Laos and Cambodia. I was told by the families that some Department of Defense officials were so disturbed by this that they registered their objections in writing. Those documents, I was told, were classified.

  It was easy for me to understand why the Pathet Lao would continue to hold prisoners who had not been negotiated for by the U.S. government or who were caught in contravention of the peace agreements. It was harder to understand why the Vietnamese would hold on to prisoners after the peace was signed. Then I learned this was not the first time the Vietnamese Communist government had kept prisoners long after a conflict ended. French POWs were sold for many years after the French-Indochina war, for cash and other concessions. They were called “pearls.”

  A former foreign service officer in Vietnam, considered to be one of the foremost experts on the French POW/MIA experience, testified before a 1976 House Select Committee that two hundred French POWs were released by the Vietnamese some eleven to fourteen years after the war. The Socialist Republic of Vietnam had never admitted holding them. She suggested to the Committee that American government representatives speak to the Vietnamese not about prisoners, but about deserters, or better yet “war criminals,” since the Vietnamese had categories for such men, but none for prisoners. The French had paid an unrevealed but supposedly large sum for French remains and the maintenance of French graves and cemeteries in Vietnam, she said.

  It seemed that the U.S. government had expected to bargain for prisoners, but somewhere along the road, abandoned the idea. Article 20 of the Peace Agreement stated:

  
    The United States anticipates that this agreement will usher in an era of reconciliation with the Democratic Republic of Vietnam as with all the peoples of IndoChina. In pursuance of its traditional policy, the U.S. will contribute to healing the wounds of war and to post war reconstruction. . . .*

  

  President Nixon reinforced that pledge with a secret promise of four and one-half billion aid dollars in a letter to Prime Minister Pham Van Dong on February 1, 1973. That letter was not released until four years later. The promise of reconstruction aid was never kept, largely because Congress, angered by reports from returning prisoners of war of torture and mistreatment by Hanoi, would never grant such aid. Because of Watergate and his attendant resignation, Nixon lost all possibility of arranging fund transfers from other programs. The promises that were not kept rankled the Vietnamese Communists. Time and again they were to hint during negotiations that the prisoner issue was tied to the promised reconstruction aid.

  Over the next twelve years, scores of Vietnamese refugees told stories of prisoners who were held back as “pearls,” but who were never bargained for by the U.S. government. There were stories that the Vietnamese aired statements made by U.S. government officials who claimed there were no more prisoners in Southeast Asia, in order to humiliate and torture prisoners who had been left behind.

  The fact that prisoner returns were intimately connected to payment of reconstruction funds was clearly understood by the 1976 House Select Committee on Missing Persons in Southeast Asia. On December 13 of that year the members concluded their report, Americans Missing in Southeast Asia, with the following statement:

  
    That the Socialist Republic of Vietnam has called for selective implementation of the Paris Peace Agreement specifically article 21 dealing with American reconstruction aid to Vietnam in exchange for POW/MIA information under article 8b. (p. 239).

  

  Over the years that knowledge received little attention from committees on Capitol Hill. Perhaps lawmakers were too busy, but it seemed to some families as if a war of attrition was being waged against the men who had been left behind. No matter how much solid intelligence was obtained that men were alive and imprisoned in Vietnam, some government official or committee would find a way to negate it – even when those intelligence chiefs in charge of the issue declared that they too believed men to be alive and imprisoned in Indochina.

  What started as possibly an error of judgment, or an act of political expediency, grew with the passing years into a conviction that national security would be hurt by the disclosure that U.S. intelligence capabilities, which were formidable, had failed to serve the men who fight.

  Hundreds of refugees reported seeing American prisoners in all parts of Communist Southeast Asia in the early postwar years. Some of those refugees had spent time in prison with Americans. A few of them took their responsibility to report what they had seen seriously enough to testify under oath before congressional committees. Analysts at the Pentagon’s Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA), often took seriously one part of a witness’s testimony only to debunk that part having to do with live men. For example, in the early eighties a former Vietnamese colonel of Chinese descent testified in disguise before a congressional committee about a warehouse of remains of over four hundred Americans in the heart of Hanoi. He explained the Vietnamese would cold-heartedly pull out some of those remains and return them to the United States when diplomatic concessions were required. The colonel, known as “The Mortician,” passed lie-detector tests, and his story about the remains became part of DIA formal history. Yet a retired DIA official told me that The Mortician had been just as truthful about live prisoners. He had testified that he personally saw groups of prisoners on numerous occasions before he fled Vietnam in 1979. That part of his testimony, even though he had passed all interrogations and lie-detector tests with flying colours, was determined to be a fabrication.

  There was an effort to steer anyone with an interest away from the subject of living men. It took me a long time to see that the issue was larger than the roughly 2,500 MIAs admitted to by the U.S. government.

  My real education began after the 60 Minutes broadcast. The show had presented two sides of an argument. One was that there was no credible evidence that anybody had been left behind from among loyal, serving Americans. This was the government case, but officials covered themselves by adding, “If any are still there, getting them back is a priority – unless they’re deserters and traitors.” The opposing view was that our intelligence on prisoners was voluminous but never put to use: two highly qualified Special Forces men said the intelligence was suppressed.

  My husband had many friends in the military and intelligence. So did I. He also had a great deal of experience in Southeast Asia. He could assess the growing complaints reaching my office that secret intelligence was not serving those it was meant to serve. Vietnam marked the blossoming of covert warfare. If the men who fight these wars cannot depend on the intelligence services, they have justification for asking awkward questions.

  Those who contacted me were driven by anger and concern for the defense of their country. Their misgivings had crystallized around the POW/MIA issue because many proffered detailed knowledge of how American intelligence on prisoners had never been acted upon. I might have dismissed their allegations if I had not received those curious NSC threats; and if, after 60 Minutes ran my segment on prisoners, a Pentagon publication had not appeared, exclusively devoted to branding as liars all those who had appeared on the program to state their belief that, based on the best possible current intelligence, prisoners were still being held by the Vietnamese and their allies.

  Kinfolk of the missing, and the doubting vets, lacked the resources of a national broadcast-news network. I could call upon such resources, but I was to experience a milder and briefer version of the nightmare of frustration experienced by these Americans. Intelligence documents were declassified, then hastily reclassified when the critics pointed out discrepancies and demanded answers. Some vets with experience in electronic intelligence in Southeast Asia had started to build complex information networks. By 1989 these networks were described by one former intelligence officer, Colonel Earl Hopper, Sr., as “better than the intelligence resources at DIA” – even though the Defense Intelligence Agency had the task of coordinating all intelligence on the missing. Colonel Hopper’s son, also a colonel, was still among the missing.

  The DIA director, through the toughest war years and long afterwards, was Lt. Gen. Eugene Tighe, who told me flatly that he had seen the best possible evidence of Americans still alive. For speaking out, he was publicly humiliated.

  He was not alone among senior officers whose audacity was punished when they failed to toe the official line. Yet they had to confide to somebody. They peeled away my innocence. First I learned never to ask direct questions when mysterious references were made to outfits like ISA, MACV, SOG, CCN, or SLAM.* Bit by bit, I discovered these were units with roots in a special secret service created in 1958, nominally under the South Vietnamese president, and supported and financed by the Central Intelligence Agency.

  I found that intelligence on prisoners had been efficiently collected; so much so that today, more than fourteen years after the U.S. evacuation of Saigon, all Vietnam is laced with grapevines of human intelligence on prison camps – on who is in them, and on who runs them. Yet despite the intelligence and despite the existence of a special unit designed to rescue them, no American military prisoner was ever officially brought out. POWs and MIAs seemed to be getting lost in what many military men considered an ever-increasing isolation of intelligence agencies.

  A friend of my husband, with intelligence experience going back to World War II, suddenly resigned from the CIA. He had quarreled with the Director, Bill Casey, the year before Casey died in 1987. Casey, he said, tampered with intelligence reports, and slanted them to suit White House thinking. It wasn’t in the spirit of the words at the entrance to CIA headquarters in Langley, Virginia, which quoted the biblical promise that “ye shall know the Truth, and the Truth shall make you free.”

  My husband’s friend had held one of the most sensitive posts. Now he was discarded, implying serious problems in the agency. This was a difficult conclusion for my husband to reach. He had liked Casey as CIA director.

  A new director, Judge William Webster, appeared before Senate Intelligence Committee hearings on April 8, 1987. The committee, judging Webster’s fitness for the new task, asked him what his philosophy on intelligence might be. Webster said he could add nothing to what my husband had written in his book A Man Called Intrepid: “Among the increasingly intricate arsenals across the world, intelligence is an essential weapon, perhaps the most dangerous. Safeguards against its abuse must be devised, revised, and rigidly applied. . . . The character and wisdom of those to whom it is entrusted will be decisive. . . .”

  Americans really have little opportunity to know if they have abdicated a small part of their freedom to people they should trust. They dutifully refrain from poking their noses into national secrets, confident that those who guard them are doing the best possible job with the greatest integrity. The armed services, in turn, need the best possible intelligence to carry out their duties. They deserve first consideration. If an American is taken prisoner, he should know that he will get the full and non-political attention of his country’s formidable intelligence resources. Admiral William Crowe said at his retirement as Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in the autumn of 1989, “We need first and foremost the best possible intelligence.” He should have added, “And the integrity to act upon it for the good of all the people.” Without integrity, secrecy can become a license for opportunists to distort and corrupt the system. It suddenly struck me that, for once, ordinary Americans could get a sense of how effective these intelligence services were from the way the POW/MIA issue had been handled.

  My husband knew something about such things. He had extracted a Canadian fighter pilot from China, where Communist officials swore they knew nothing of the flier’s existence. He had talked to French prisoners in Communist Vietnam, long after Hanoi and Paris jointly agreed that none existed.

  What we could not understand, as we went along, was the intelligence bureaucrats’ fear of re-examining their own performance. Were there deep reasons for hoping the issue would die in time, just as death in time must release all Americans left behind? Or was it merely a military morale problem?

  One ordinary American who felt she could break the usual conventions of secrecy was Ann Holland. Her husband, Melvin, had vanished at a super-secret base in Laos. He was not in uniform, and technically there wasn’t a war there. Ann had obeyed all the demands made upon her by the U.S. Air Force officials to stay silent. Then she discovered that nothing at all was being done for her husband; and she would not be jeopardizing any rescue operations, which she thought were in progress, if she made waves. She was like a growing number of Americans who gladly surrendered a part of their independence in the interests of “national security,” but who decided that, on this issue, they had every right to ask questions in public and demand replies from public institutions.

  She wrote me after seeing the 60 Minutes segment: “The pain the families have had to live with. . . . The nights, the sleepless nights . . . I would find my youngest child wandering through the house looking for something. Looking in closets, cupboards . . . and when I asked what he was looking for, he didn’t know. . . .”

  Her children have grown up with a ghost for a father. Ann would write me again: “Two of my sons now serve in the Air Force. If I quit asking questions now, who will be there for them if their time comes? This is our country and if the people running it aren’t doing their very best, then they need to be reminded of what this country stands for. We do not leave men behind who gave all they had to give when they were asked, believing we would give all we had to give to get them back.”

  Not all my sources put things down on paper. I taped many conversations and to give a sense of just a few of the stories of courageous Americans like Ann, they are quoted to illuminate both the issue of POWs and the abuses of secrecy. Some of our sources were afraid to be identified. In the end, however, most decided to risk their careers or harassment, and agreed to let me use their names.

  I am not by nature secretive, or cautious. But since that seemingly innocent entry into a secretive world five years ago, I have learned not to take things at face value. One of my tutors was Ross Perot, who is much more than a Texan entrepreneur. He displayed a grim resolve to get to the bottom of the POW/MIA issue from the moment he realized the numbers of prisoners returned in 1973 were inexplicably small.

  I called him one day about an inquiry from a “federal government investigator.” The man wanted to question me about possible crimes involving U.S. officials in Southeast Asia. He gave me his office phone numbers and his official designation. Perot used his resources to probe. He called me back. “If there’s such a government department, I’ll buy you the biggest steak in Texas,” he said.

  Perot had to pay up. We discovered there was an investigative service buried within the General Accounting Office in Washington, D.C. It had no authority, though, to dispatch agents to find out what I might know. I rejected the man, who had asked me to cooperate in “a matter of national security.” He then showed his true colors. “You’d better be sure to tell the truth in your book,” he said. I had never told him I was writing a book.

  So many of our sources had similar stories to tell. Calls in the night. Veiled warnings. I didn’t believe them. Not in the beginning. In the end, I kept going for the same reason that motivated Ross Perot. It was “the right thing to do.”

  It seemed the right thing to do because so many of the POW/MIA families and the veterans of the war had never had the opportunity to tell their side of the story. Since 1981, the government, including the official organization designed to deal with the issue, had said that the issue of POWS and MIAs had the highest priority, but that there had been no credible evidence of men left alive in captivity that was strong enough to act on. They had many outlets for telling their side of the story and they had the advantage, because so much of the material on POW/MIAs remains classified.

  The secrecy that cloaks the issue has led many people to conclude that there are some in the government who don’t want the truth to come out. The natural question that arises is “Why?”

  There are undoubtedly many reasons behind the reluctance of officials to look seriously at the allegations of those most directly involved in the issue. Some of those responsible have been caught up in bureaucratic inertia, some have acted on directives that they thought were legal and appropriate, others have acted from a moral and professional belief that the POW/MIA issue could be resolved properly only if national-security concerns were paramount, and some have seemed motivated primarily by a desire to defeat Vietnam and its allies in Cambodia, and have tied the POW/MIA issue to the resolution of that situation. Some have possibly believed that activists might compromise government efforts to get men back – either through rescue missions or relocation. Some have engaged in Iran-Contra-like activities, demonstrating the same confusion of motives that were revealed during those hearings. Just as with Iran-Contra, it is almost impossible to say which bureaucrats and which government departments were responsible for specific actions.

  However, pinpointing motives and pointing the finger at individuals was never the object of this book. That is the job of the appropriate government agencies. We wanted to give voice to those Americans who had not been heard and who seemed to have good cause to criticize and to demand an overhaul of a system that stalled whenever they asked for a proper accounting of their friends and loved ones lost in Southeast Asia.


  
CHAPTER 1

  TRAITOR

  In 1985 I had been a producer at the CBS TV newsmagazine 60 Minutes for five years. Home was in the Georgetown area of Washington, D.C., and I often walked to my office at 20th and M streets, even after learning I was pregnant. My husband, William Stevenson, seemed happy to live wherever he could write his books undisturbed. Sometimes I wondered if there was anywhere he had not lived both as a fighter pilot in the British navy during World War II and as a foreign correspondent. He had reported from inside most of the Communist countries from Poland to Ho Chi Minh’s Vietnam and had spent fifteen years in Asia as a foreign and war correspondent. He had written a number of books about national movements and counter-terrorism, such as Ninety Minutes at Entebbe and A Man Called Intrepid. If I could not reach someone by going through 60 Minutes’ files, I generally could by going through his contact book.

  One morning, as I entered my office and checked for messages, I found a scribbled card from Angie Prijic, my classmate at college. She was writing to say that someone in Indochina had found an Air Force Academy ring belonging to Lance Sijan, a Phantom pilot we had known when we were at school. Why, she was wondering, would his ring show up eighteen years after he disappeared in Vietnam? She had heard conflicting reports on rescue missions.

  It was an intriguing question, but a busy day loomed ahead. I turned to a more immediate matter: Lucille Ball. Her press agent had called to confirm an interview if we still wanted to do it. Fred Astaire’s press agent also had a good idea for a segment. It would be fun to produce a show biz item for once.

  However, Don Hewitt, our executive producer at 60 Minutes, phoned from the New York center to say he couldn’t go for a profile on Lucille Ball. She had been part of the CBS stable of talent, but she didn’t fit 60 Minutes’ criteria – not enough of a legend. Fred Astaire? There was a star Hewitt loved, and whose name was already in the history books. “Go for Astaire!” he said. “Forget Lucille Ball.”

  Hewitt had an uncanny instinct for what kept fifty million viewers watching our show each Sunday night. He combined street smarts with years of television and journalistic experience. He might seem to fly by the seat of his pants, but his one hour of prime time generated a quarter of the CBS network’s profits, said his admirers. He had held only one meeting since he started at 60 Minutes some twenty years earlier. Conferences took the form of ideas barked on the run, strangled shouts in the screening room, yelps of the wounded when Hewitt and the lawyers, the brass, the producers, and the correspondents battled over weekly segments that were usually around fourteen minutes in length. It always amazed me how much drama Hewitt could compress into so short a span of air time, or within such narrow corridors. He was as disdainful of routine as only a $2-million-a-year man could afford to be, as Vanity Fair once observed with undisguised envy.

  I reached for Astaire’s file and, on my way through the A’s, prepared to put away Angie’s card under A for Angie. I had opened her file a few months before, in late 1984, after she told me Lance Sijan had been awarded a posthumous Medal of Honor.

  I felt a surge of pride. Angie and I wore prisoner-of-war bracelets with Lance’s name on them at the University of Wisconsin. He was twenty-five in 1967 when he dragged his way for forty-six days and nights through the Vietnamese jungle with a smashed leg and broken hands.

  “No one’s ever told his story,” Angie had said.

  The medal was for the way he resisted torture and mental thuggee. Prisoners who did come home described his resistance as awesome. It was a great story. But for 60 Minutes? Ed Bradley, the correspondent I had been assigned to work with, was amused. Profile a dead Medal of Honor winner from the Vietnam War? Not in 1985.

  However, something about Lance Sijan’s story bothered me. And now here was Angie with rumors of a rescue mission and retrieval of Lance’s ring. Funny that nothing official was ever said. Trust Angie to ferret out awkward facts. She’d become a psychologist, working among down-and-outs in city slums, and although she was the busy mother of three children, she remained the kind of person who would look unflinchingly at things others preferred not to see.

  My husband, Bill, did not get involved in my work. As a writer, he found my stories could be a terrible distraction. However, when I told him about it, the mystery of Lance Sijan’s ring intrigued him as well. He was going to Thailand on a writing assignment. Could he inquire into the rumors Angie had passed along? It was said that U.S. rescue missions had been launched from Thailand into the Communist territories.

  “I’ll drop by Lucy’s Tiger Den in Bangkok,” he offered. He generally knew what watering hole to visit in a foreign place. He had spent part of his life rubbing shoulders with intelligence spooks. His father had worked in Nazi-occupied France with the Resistance networks. Bill had worked in strife-torn Malaysia while wars raged in neighboring Indochina. I felt I could reasonably draw upon his experience just this one time.

  Before he got within ten thousand miles of Lucy’s Tiger Den, though, a letter came to Ed Bradley from Bill Davison and Kyle R. Eddings in Pennsylvania. “60 Minutes continues to be concerned about human rights in every country except the United States,” it said. “Why can’t – or why won’t – 60 Minutes cover Americans missing in Southeast Asia? 2,483 are still there. . . .”

  The letter was routinely investigated by a 60 Minutes researcher who told me, “The government says it’s nonsense. There are no Americans left alive and held against their will.” Usually a researcher’s report satisfied me, but I found this issue was nagging at my mind.

  I decided to follow up Angie’s lead with a few questions for the Pentagon. I was particularly curious about a Green Beret colonel, Bo Gritz, who was reported to have led a mission in 1981 to recover American servicemen left behind in Southeast Asia. His service record made him sound like a resourceful, highly decorated commando type who had carried out daring behind-the-lines operations in the Vietnam War. General William C. Westmoreland, after commanding U.S. forces in Vietnam, singled out Gritz as the quintessential American soldier hero in his memoirs.* But now one of my contacts sent me a Soldier of Fortune magazine with the cover headline: “Bo Gritz: Hero or Huckster?” Inside was a savage attack on Gritz, claiming that the rescue mission was a Gritz fantasy, typical of the barroom tales in Lucy’s Tiger Den.

  It was not uncommon for me to be casually interested in a potential story and then find myself tripping over relevant bits of information wherever I turned. Most reporters know the feeling. Either a significant bit of luck or a meaningless string of coincidences is at work.

  One night I was at an informal dinner given by a highly respected former CIA official who had become a good friend. Among the guests were a number of journalists, a former CIA station chief, a Soviet expert, a counter-intelligence specialist, and Cord Meyer, such an old hand in diplomacy and intelligence that the New York Times had profiled him on January 7, 1973, as a man who had made a long journey from idealistic hopes for world unity to “the Department of Dirty Tricks.” Newspapers had quoted Meyer as talking openly about his success in carrying out a CIA assignment to discredit a book alleging CIA involvement in the illegal drug trade.*

  Later, one of the guests came to me. “Bo Gritz is an unmitigated liar,” he said.

  I felt a stab of unease. Maybe Bill should avoid Lucy’s Tiger Den. He was going up-country to research a book. Why get him tangled up with Bo Gritz, rescue missions, and a ring?

  “It’s such a nice project you’re starting,” I said to him when he telephoned later that night. “Forget Lucy’s.”

  “If you keep to nice assignments.”

  He did not want a pregnant wife producing more of what Hewitt called “the dirty-face stories.” One, about a notorious killer, had won me an Emmy. Frothy subjects would be welcome now. Why make something of what was probably just coincidence? It was silly to think the government was out to make Gritz seem loony to me just because someone had sent me that critical article about him in Soldier of Fortune magazine and a former intelligence man had appeared to make a particular point of calling him an unmitigated liar.

  A few days later, working on a segment about the Shoreham nuclear plant on Long Island and the mob’s involvement in faulty construction, I pulled an old memo from my research files in the New York office. “A Marine keeps trying to talk about Americans we abandoned in Vietnam,” I had written. “The Marine came out of Communist hands long after the war ended, and long after the U.S. government decided no Americans were still held against their will. He was branded a traitor. Now there are sober reports he was framed.

  The Marine’s name was Bobby Garwood.

  On September 28, 1965, Private Garwood, a staff driver for the Third Marine Division at Da Nang, had been sent to pick up a Marine lieutenant from a reconnaissance company near Marble Mountain at China Beach. There he had been ambushed and captured. He was barely nineteen and had twelve days left on his tour of duty in Vietnam.

  Fourteen years after Garwood’s capture, he managed to get a message out of Vietnam via a diplomat from a neutral country. That message, telling the world he wanted out of Vietnam, received world-wide attention after it was broadcast on the BBC. He was released. But on his arrival in Bangkok he was read his legal rights, given legal counsel, and taken into Marine custody. Shortly thereafter he was charged with desertion – for which he could have received the death penalty – with aiding and abetting the enemy, and with striking a fellow American prisoner. The prosecution pushed the allegation that Garwood had “refused” repatriation in 1973 when everyone else was allowed to come back; that he had made his decision and then could not live with it. Throughout the court martial Garwood seemed to be in a daze, totally under the control of his lawyers. He had forgotten much of his native language and spoke with a heavy Vietnamese accent. He never took the stand to defend himself.

  The charge of desertion arose because Garwood’s former commanding officer reported he could find no proof Garwood had been authorized to leave camp, though the C.O. “left no stone unturned.” But a surprise witness appeared: a fellow driver who testified he raced Garwood to the jeep dispatcher’s tent to get that next assignment. Garwood had won the race, but he had lost his liberty. The unexpected witness said he had never been approached by military investigators or he would have told them Garwood was in uniform and officially authorized to take that ill-fated trip. The desertion charge had to be dropped. But the other charges remained, and he was found guilty.

  Nowhere during the proceedings had his claims about American prisoners been discussed. I began to understand why Garwood’s court martial had been described by the presiding judge as “a travesty of justice.” His conviction certainly made it easier to brand him a liar when he claimed he had seen large numbers of American prisoners still alive.

  My memo had been shelved. But such memos at 60 Minutes are merely opening passes. The key to getting the full investigative resources of CBS behind you is to have Don Hewitt approve what is called a “bluesheet”. This outlines a proposal in stark terms, but it must be backed by considerable research. A story with little immediate potential may blossom into a bluesheet as further events unfold. Thoroughly intrigued, I set out to look for such further events.

  A former intelligence chief said Garwood’s descriptions of other prisoners and their locations “rang true,” though Garwood was prevented by the Marine Corps from placing this information into the official record. Admiral Jerry Tuttle, a former deputy director of the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA), later told me he’d seen highly classified photographs of American prisoners, which seemed to back up what Garwood had said.

  One man, now a military advisor on contract to the National Security Council, had operated inside enemy territory for the highly secret group known as Command and Control North (CCN). He told me that Garwood had made an attempt to escape before his success in smuggling the note to the diplomat. Another CCN veteran seemed to back that up when he told me that an American official had said, “We should have taken care of Garwood ourselves when he first tried to get out.”

  Garwood had tried to get out once before? That made me sit up. If he was a true collaborator, why had he tried twice to get out? And how did these officials know about it?

  I wrote the formal bluesheet, but I left out the stuff about “taking care of Garwood.” It sounded too farfetched. I gave the proposal the working title “Vietnam POWs – the Collaborator as Missing Link.”

  I got an enthusiastic go-ahead call from Hewitt. If I couldn’t produce the TV segment on a certified hero, I could at least do one on a presumed traitor and maybe learn if there really were Americans left behind – Americans like Lance Sijan.

  Bill did stop off at Lucy’s Tiger Den, on a Friday night when hobo beans and bacon were given away to ex-‘Nam Americans. The bar in those days was near the raucous sex clubs on Patpong Road in central Bangkok, and the patrons for years ranged from American fliers on CIA missions to American construction workers employed anywhere between the Mideast and Borneo. Tiger, an ironworker who dropped anchor here during the Vietnam War, was lassooed by Bangkok Lucy. She had a will of iron. Even Tiger couldn’t bend it, so he stayed. Tiger liked to boast, “There ain’t a pipe layer, a chopper pilot, a mercenary, a boilermaker, a construction stiff nor a deep-sea diver that didn’t pass through my den leastways once.” He was also proud to be Bangkok commander of Post No. 1 of the American Legion, “operating in exile till we toss out the Commies in China,” where the post was originally registered.

  The anti-Communist secret wars in this region were memorialized by quaint stickers, insignia, and photographs on the walls. Thailand had been the center for American covert activities in Southeast Asia ever since the late fifties, and many of them were run out of the U.S. embassy in Bangkok. The stickers referred to Project 404, the code name for secret U.S. Air Force operations, to chemical warfare, and to China Lake, which was a top-secret research center in California.

  Bill found Tiger’s spiced beans lived up to their reputation as the best this side of Chattahoochee; and Tiger lived up to his reputation as the best contact man this side of Suez. “Here’s the guy you want,” he said. The newcomer suggested he and Bill go somewhere less conspicuous, so they wound up in a neon-lit ice-cream parlor that seemed considerably more public. However, it wasn’t for Bill to question these things; in the bright lights the Asian looked like an impoverished student and attracted no attention.

  “I control a group that moves inside Communist territory,” he said. “One of my teams came back with a ring inscribed ‘Love forever, Sue.’ Another mission with Colonel Bo Gritz retrieved a ring identified as belonging to a Lance Sijan. Our official American liaison officers insisted the rings were fake. I know they are genuine.”

  The man was in a hurry. He said, “The American government view is that Asians make money by fabricating identity tags and such, to exploit relatives of men lost in Indochina. We are said to make a business of pretending to raid enemy camps and sell false information. Obviously there are safer ways to make money. . . .”

  Bill instinctively trusted him as one of those who had fought in the anti-Communist resistance. Nonetheless, he told me next day on the phone: “If the U.S. government says the Lance Sijan ring is a fake, I’d have to believe it.”

  And Bill got back to his research with a condescending sense of having saved me from a potentially difficult situation.

  I was puzzled. I checked the credibility of the Asian Bill had seen in Lucy’s Tiger Den. An old friend of Bill’s, who was in a position to know, said, “The man is a lieutenant general in the Royal Laotian Army who remained loyal to his former American comrades. He’s in close contact with Thai military intelligence. He is utterly reliable . . . if he says something is so, you can believe it.” Yet, officially, the Pentagon denied the man’s claim that jewelry recovered from enemy territory belonged to U.S. servicemen. I couldn’t understand why the Pentagon was so vehement.

  I soon discovered that it wasn’t just Garwood or Asians who said Americans were left behind. It was being said publicly by sober citizens like Ross Perot, the Texan billionaire who was a member of President Reagan’s Foreign Intelligence Advisory Board. He was also rumored to have privately financed missions to rescue prisoners in Asia. Perot denied this when I spoke to him, but he remained adamant that there was current intelligence on live American POWs.

  I started to ask around Washington about rescue missions. Nobody would officially admit there had been any. I could understand that public statements might jeopardize ongoing secret operations, but another U.S. Army colonel, Nick Rowe, of special intelligence operations, soon told me all rescue efforts had been stopped years ago. He gave me details of a Delta raid that was aborted in 1981 after top-level intervention. “We had precise intelligence on the camp, we had our men ready to strike from an Asian base, we knew how to pluck out the Americans in captivity. And we were ordered to stand down. . . .” When I asked why, Colonel Rowe stared at me for a long time before framing a single word: “Conspiracy.” He would not elaborate.

  Confirmation of the information Rowe gave me also came from Larry O’Daniel, a former army intelligence officer in Vietnam, who had written a book, Missing in Action: Trail of Deceit. He told me that, in 1981, a former intelligence chief, who had advised Reagan in the transition period between his election and inauguration, had told him they had positive proof that seven prisoners were alive and were planning a rescue effort.

  I was expecting my baby in March. At the end of February, the doctor forbade further travel. The Garwood story seemed to fit my domestic plans. The bluesheet had been approved. It could be researched in Washington.

  I began by reading through transcripts of the Garwood court martial. The trial had been unfair, the judge, Colonel Switzer, agreed when I spoke again with him. The CIA’s original lie-detector expert confided that he thought Garwood a victim of “a far-reaching conspiracy.”

  Now I had to find Garwood. The Marine Corps still kept him on the books, but no base would have him. Was there any address where I could find him? The Corps shrugged its collective shoulders. No.

  Surely his pay must be mailed somewhere? No. The Marines were holding it back, together with all medical benefits.

  I finally discovered him pumping gas in rural Virginia. This black-market job was his only way of keeping body and soul together. He hadn’t been released by the Marines – but they weren’t paying him either. His wages at the garage were low, but he was in no position to bargain; it was a no-win situation. He seemed scarcely able to talk in English. He’d been sent to Vietnam in his teens and came back fourteen years later in early middle age. Even if the Marines had let him off the hook, he was virtually unemployable on the basis of his Marine medical report: it recounted a formidable list of disabilities as the result of his years among jungle Communists. Military physicians, with no ax to grind, declared him to be suffering more than the usual list of ills after long confinement in tropical jungles. Wouldn’t a collaborator be in better shape?

  His manner toward me was hostile. There seemed small prospect of a 60 Minutes interview. He had already turned down Morley Safer, who I assumed had approached him through his lawyer. I realized Garwood was guided by combat veterans of the Vietnam War, since they provided a constant bodyguard when he talked to strangers. That seemed odd. A so-called traitor, protected by fellow soldiers? And what were they protecting him against?

  On March 22, four days before the baby’s birth, I walked over to the National Press Club, where Garwood’s supporters had called a press conference. The club was practically within shouting distance of the White House, which was about as close as these vets felt the disgraced Marine would ever get to the chief occupant. The bureaucrats in the Pentagon had blocked all other channels, they said. They hoped the media would carry Bobby’s message about POWs left behind in Vietnam to the President.

  Garwood was easily intimidated by the newsmen and still had his eerie Vietnamese accent. They wanted to know why he’d waited so long to speak. One of his supporters said, “Bobby’s still a prisoner. The Marines haven’t paid him in twenty-one years, but they keep him on a leash.”

  “At least they haven’t executed him for what he did,” sneered a reporter.

  Garwood said he had personal knowledge of live POWs, but would give details only to appropriate officials of the U.S. government – if the information would lead to their being rescued. He did not want to make any more information public, fearing the Vietnamese would kill any prisoners he identified. It was an unfortunate stance to take with the reporters. As I watched, I was intrigued yet again by the fact that he held the loyalty of the ex-soldiers and provoked the dislike of civilians who had no battlefield experience. That was an odd turnabout. A soldier accused of joining the enemy is usually shunned by former comrades.

  One of Garwood’s protectors joined me on the sidewalk outside the press club. A March wind blustered down 14th Street. He said, “Why doesn’t 60 Minutes do the Bobby Garwood story?” Then he added, “Aw, the government’d make you back off.”

  “Nobody makes us back off!”

  “I’ll give you a chance to prove that,” said the ex-soldier.

  His name was Mike Van Atta – one of the most unlikely characters to have rallied to Garwood’s side. A reporter at the press conference told me that Colonel Richard Childress, a National Security man in the White House, had called Van Atta “a royal pain in the butt – he wants to fight the Vietnam War all over again – with U.S. bureaucrats as the enemy.” As an army ranger, he had carried out deep-penetration jungle missions, and the judgment among his peers was that “Mike’s pure gold – the bravest of the brave.” He now ran his own energy and construction business near the federal capital. Like other vets, and with a young and growing family, he had to scramble to make up for the lost years. In addition, he paid a heavy price in time and effort for his involvement in a newsletter he published, The Insider. It specialized in helping the families of missing men understand how to read the obfuscations of intelligence bureaucrats, and extract information on prisoners from “secret” files. The National Vietnam Veterans’ Coalition had put up the money for Garwood’s unsuccessful press conference, but it seemed Van Atta was the man who could best help to arrange an effective one-on-one interview. He said Garwood’s poor performance before the reporters was a result of being degraded by the enemy first, and then by his own countrymen. Van Atta promised to get back to me.

  While waiting to hear from Van Atta about a Garwood interview, I found an authority whose word opened up a whole new range of possibilities. This was General Eugene Tighe, former Director of the Pentagon’s U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency. Among its heavy global responsibilities, DIA was also required “to pursue and analyze all intelligence pertaining to the POW/MIA issue.” The man who had directed this effort in the key years now told me that he was convinced Garwood was right. “There are other live Americans over there,” said Tighe, one of the handful of men in the world who had peered into secrets of the enemy’s mind and weaponry. “When I look at satellite pictures of Soviet silos,” he added, “I don’t have to see the missiles to know they are there.”

  I had my baby: a girl, Alexandra, on March 26, 1985. A week later I returned to the office to find a letter from a former “Raven.” He explained that Ravens were U.S. aviators who flew in covert operations in Asia. He’d heard about my interest in Garwood and recommended I see what he considered a Communist propaganda film that would show “how the poor guy was brainwashed.”

  The film had never been shown in America, so I called the London office of an East German film outfit for a copy and renewed contact with Garwood through an elaborate system of phone calls set up by his champions. He had isolated himself again. His voice on the phone was that of a severely depressed man. The Vietnamese accent was stronger than before. But he’d heard about the baby, and this seemed to be what broke through his defenses. The quality of his voice changed as soon as he questioned me about it. I learned later that the one thing he had desperately wanted was a child of his own.

  He finally agreed to see me again, provided he was accompanied by the vets. He did not want to be seen talking to a journalist alone. He would come to my home with the vets; and if anyone else wanted to know why, it was to visit the baby.

  While I was waiting to see Garwood, the film from East Germany arrived. It consisted of short clips from a longer documentary movie that seemed to suggest that Garwood was a well-treated friend and collaborator of the Communist Vietnamese. He appeared as a whey-faced, stooped native. He stumbled through Hanoi markets, talking to the peasants in Vietnamese, and showed off a ramshackle “apartment,” luxurious by Vietnamese standards, that was supposedly his own, though later he claimed to me that he saw it for the first time when the film was made. He responded like a robot in stilted English to questions asked by what sounded like an American.

  I determined to ask Garwood about the film at our meeting. However, when he arrived a few nights later, and I saw his almost frightened demeanor, I decided to postpone my questions. The vets charged into my house, bundling him along with them. He seemed passive, responding only to their prodding. I explained how 60 Minutes worked, and that this was just a preliminary discussion, for background.

  Over the next three hours Garwood rambled about his fourteen years in Communist hands. He had been in Vietnam almost half his life, a proportion that was difficult for me to imagine. He spoke mainly about how he had made his way in Vietnam, since his success had been used against him at his trial. He swallowed words as if he feared they might betray him. Yet, despite the ramblings, he made it clear that when the war was long over, he had learned to survive in the camps by his wits, and by exploiting an enormous black-market operation run by Communist backsliders. Garwood’s skills as a mechanic were used by the Vietnamese to repair vehicles left behind by the U.S. armed forces. To carry out these missions he was allowed out of detention. Because of his uncanny ability with the language, he was able to make his way in Vietnamese society.

  However, Bobby had never given up hope of finding a chance to escape. He said, “The Communists now trusted me – but also, they didn’t. They always had guards on me when I was allowed out. I’d be taken to wherever a vehicle broke down, so I could repair it on the spot to save fuel. I’d accomplished what I set out to do, which was getting out of camp. But the guards were over me like hawks. Security was tighter outside than in the camps. I had to create a circumstance.”

  His circumstance became Hanoi’s black market. After 1975, he’d learned through the gossip of army drivers that China, Russia, and Eastern Europe had reduced aid. Hanoi regularly hosted foreign diplomats from neutral countries. A black market flourished there, trading in smuggled goods and whatever the foreign diplomats wanted to buy or sell. Vietnamese Communists would try to earn hard Western currencies by supplying Russian vodka, for instance. With the currency they got from diplomats, they bought black-market Vietnamese currency, or dongs, making quite handsome profits.

  “I found the Vietnamese were no different to drivers in our army. These guys smuggled all kinds of stuff – tires, gas tanks, watches. . . . My mind started working. But I didn’t know that much about Hanoi.”

  Later, during this long evening at my house, Garwood became agitated. He was talking about his first attempt to escape after twelve years in captivity. Border conflicts with China created another “possibility of a circumstance”. The Vietnamese were rounding up Chinese as potential traitors and shipped some to Yen Bai, then Garwood’s camp. He became friends with Nana, a nineteen-year-old Chinese girl who had run a coffee shop in central Hanoi. Talking with her, he realized she knew which hotels were used by foreigners – Swedes, Cubans, Algerians, Russians . . . He had a glimpse of hope. If he got a message for help into neutral hands, he was sure his government would come to fetch him, somehow.

  By advising Garwood, and introducing him to her contacts, Nana made it possible for him to smuggle a note to one of the Hanoi hotels. Soon after, Garwood was suddenly frogmarched to the parade ground for “an execution.” Was it to be his own? Prisoners were never sure. It was one of the many methods used by his captors to keep prisoners off balance. He found himself staring at Nana, roped to the execution tree. “Six men emptied their AK-47s into her while I watched,” he said. “I hadn’t had the courage even to acknowledge her. I just stood, paralyzed. She never realized the significance of what she’d done. I had used her. They accused her of being a CIA operative.” He began to shake, and got up abruptly.

  I followed him out onto the street. At that hour, on O Street between 30th and 31st, there were few passersby. From the porch, I saw a man under a street light. Mike Van Atta, who had come with Garwood, joined me and said, “He’s shadowing Bobby.” Then Van Atta laughed self-consciously. “You’ll think I’m paranoid.”

  I said no, I didn’t. But I did walk over to get a better look at the watcher. He stared insolently back. I was about to speak to him when he turned and walked abruptly away. Another figure broke from the shadow of the house once owned by Senator John F. Kennedy. The first watcher joined him and together they stood at the corner of 31st, waiting.

  “Is anyone trying to unnerve you?” I asked Garwood. He shrugged and went inside. I felt foolish. He’d spent most of his adult life under close, incessant, and hostile scrutiny. He was used to it.

  Later, after they left, I outlined this meeting very carefully in a memo for Ed Bradley. It raised real questions about Garwood’s status in Vietnam. Despite pressure from other MIA families, no one at the court martial had questioned the government view that he was not a returned prisoner but a deserter. I was convinced he was one of those American prisoners who had been unaccounted for and abandoned in 1973. If he had collaborated, it took place after 1973. He really might have won his freedom by the use of considerable ingenuity. There was a good possibility he was telling the truth about other prisoners.

  Garwood’s escape must have embarrassed Washington and Hanoi. Hanoi had declared to two U.S. presidential commissions that no Americans were left in Vietnam – and Washington had accepted it. When I queried them the State Department had denied all knowledge of Garwood’s first appeal for help in 1977. State seemed anxious to save face for the Vietnamese, as well as to serve the U.S. line after the release of less than six hundred prisoners in the spring of 1973. That line said that no Americans were left behind against their will.

  I reviewed my notes of the meeting. Garwood had had more success in smuggling out another cry for help a year later, in 1978. After Nana’s execution, and in the time leading up to his “escape,” he had begun to be sent on extensive runs to repair vehicles as far away as the area north of Hanoi. The lieutenant who regularly rode with him as a guard had a family in Hanoi.

  One day, close to the Tet holidays, the Vietnamese New Year, the guard was dropped off at his family’s home while Garwood was driven on to fix a jeep near the Victory Hotel. Technically, the lieutenant was guilty of desertion, even though he was to be picked up by the driver on the way back. In the meantime, Garwood played up to the Vietnamese driver. While he worked on the jeep, he made suggestions: “You know,” he said, “it wouldn’t be a problem for me to go get some cigarettes, booze, candy, all you want – I’d be in and out of there in five minutes. It’s only a couple days to Tet.” Garwood, because he was Caucasian and could pass as a foreign guest, could enter the stores, whereas his Vietnamese driver could not. The driver finally said yes, and gave Garwood flip-flops and North Vietnamese Army (NVA) trousers and a white shirt, because Garwood’s own prison pajamas would have given him away. Garwood walked in, found a snack bar, bought what his driver wanted, and walked out. He handed over the purchases, but kept the tiny bits of paper that served as receipts. He thought, This guy is my prisoner now. But he said nothing at this point.

  Instead, he said to the driver, “Look, I’m going to be in Vietnam for the rest of my life. Is it wrong to want to get things like beer, cigarettes, when I can get access to them and I don’t harm anyone? You can make some money, you can get stuff to your family, and I’m asking very little in return.” When the driver said no, Garwood pulled out the receipts to indicate his power to blackmail. The driver got angry and threatened to shoot Garwood. Then he began to see the possibilities. He asked what Garwood wanted. Garwood explained, “Just create a circumstance where I can go into hotels, buy stuff for you, and you sell it on the black market, because all I want is cigarettes once in a while and maybe a beer.” He explained how “circumstances” could be created: “The truck can break down every time we go out – pull off the battery cable or something.” Garwood had the driver hooked, and was closer to contact with foreign visitors – and a means to escape.

  Soon he had two guards implicated. Within a year he was the front man for a lively black-market operation in Hanoi. But there was only one thing he really wanted – access to a “foreign guest” from a neutral country whom he thought he could trust to get his message out. Garwood had seen that all foreign guests were provided with drivers and jeeps like his own. His driver and lieutenant validated him in the eyes of those who did not know he was under guard. Foreigners who were allies of the Vietnamese would see him get into the jeep and tell the driver, “Go,” which told them he was okay. They relied on Vietnamese drivers and transport too.

  A year after the first effort with Nana, Garwood smuggled out another cry for help. He had worked it out that she had been shot because she had been overheard discussing “state secrets” with him – details of her old life in Hanoi. The Communists had apparently not known that she had provided his courier.

  This time he did not involve anyone else and made the contact personally with a World Bank diplomat from Finland, Ossi J. Rahkonen, who got the message to the British Broadcasting Corporation. After the BBC aired a report on the smuggled note, Hanoi was obliged to produce Garwood like a rabbit out of a hat. However, before his release in 1979, his captors subjected him to four weeks of suspense, interrogation, and intimidation. The film I had seen was shot during this time, showing him stumbling around Hanoi. A high-ranking Vietnamese security man warned him, “We can find you anywhere. We’ll know if you identify prisoners we hold, and we’ll kill them. We’ll punish you right inside America if you say anything that hurts us.” The moment he was delivered into U.S. hands, he was again instructed to say nothing. This time he was going to be court-martialled and maybe shot by his own side.

  For the moment, he thought there must be some mistake. Both sides of the war surely could not want to gag him!

  I puzzled about the attitude of Van Atta and the other vets. They believed that Garwood would have been killed by his own side while still a prisoner?

  The ringing of the telephone made me jump. The caller was a Los Angeles police lieutenant who had carried out search-and-destroy missions in Vietnam. He was on the antidrug beat now, and he had once helped me with a story on credit-card fraud. I had developed a deep respect for him.

  “Some of the guys are worried,” he now said. “There’s a lot of evil out there. We hear you’re digging into a relationship between the cover-up and the stuff I’m dealing with.”

  “No,” I said automatically. He was talking in riddles.

  “Well . . .” He sounded disappointed, and also relieved. “Remember, I can rustle up plenty of muscle if you get into any difficulty.”

  My husband was overseas, but this was the first time I had felt uncomfortable in the emptiness of the big house. I sat for a long time afterwards, staring at the phone. The police lieutenant had been afraid of wire-tappers. Who on earth would want to bug my phone? I got a grip on myself. “Nobody. That’s who.”

  I thought about that call, on and off, in the days that followed. What was “the stuff I’m dealing with”? Drugs? And what did he mean about a cover-up?

  Word of my interest in the Garwood case spread through The Telephone Tree. This was a network of Vietnamese vets and families of missing men. They kept tabs on anything to do with Americans whose fate in Vietnam was uncertain. They put out reports like Van Atta’s Insider. Some called themselves “Forget-Me-Nots” and circulated newsletters like Task Force Omega, The Bamboo Connection, Homecoming-II, Skyhook, and smudgy sheets that seemed the equivalent of the Russian underground samizdat. I had been plugged into The Telephone Tree without any effort on my part.

  I was visited in my office soon after the Los Angeles cop’s call by a lean, youthful-looking commercial hunter and fisherman from Alaska who had fought as a combat infantryman. He was so convinced that something was seriously wrong that he made shameless use of his wife’s top-level family connections in society, in academe, in the military, and in the State Department to push his way into the private counsels of the high and mighty and ask irritating questions. He gave me a signed statement: “It is those we served, not us the soldiers, who abandoned our comrades into enemy captivity, and who subsequently covered up this fact with official secrecy and who have now told us in witnessed meetings that these were ‘acceptable casualties’ and that they and we ‘cannot afford to be emotional about the POWs left behind,’ or that we ‘do not understand the complexities of the situation as it relates to our enemies or to our Asian allies.’”

  His name was John Brown. The word along The Telephone Tree was that I was puzzled about the motives behind all this agitation, and he had come to answer my question.

  “That’s what motivates us,” said John Brown, plunking down his statement. He was Chairman of the National Vietnam Veterans’ Coalition Committee on Prisoners and Missing Men. His disillusionment had driven him, in the postwar years, to raise his family in the backwoods, as far from bitter memories as he could get. But no matter how much he tried to work off his rage in hard physical labor, in trapping and fishing, in lumberjacking and guiding big-game hunters, he was always driven back to battle with the mandarins in Washington, D.C.

  There were others like John Brown. They had gone to fight a difficult war, feeling little support from home. They did their duty. Some became uneasy when they were directed into covert operations in areas of Laos and Cambodia where their countrymen at home thought there were no wars at all. They had known comrades who were caught without uniform because they were on covert assignment. That, of course, meant the enemy could execute them as spies if the mission failed.

  Those who came home were often made to feel ashamed for having gone to Vietnam in the first place. They had to run to catch up with others of their generation who had never gone to war. In their middle years, they finally found the time to face the possibility that some of their comrades-in-arms were deliberately cast adrift. They could not get on with their lives until they discharged an obligation to the dead and missing, by forcing the reluctant bureaucracies to disinter their secrets. They were soldiers waking from a long sleep.

  I listened to these callers, but initially I set aside anything that did not directly impinge upon Garwood. I was accustomed to hearing odd stories, because 60 Minutes had become a sort of ombudsman to investigate citizens’ complaints. Victims would seek our involvement if they knew that even the hint of a CBS investigation often rectified a bad situation. The so-called POW/MIA issue seemed to fall into this category.

  By late spring 1985, Bill was resisting my growing curiosity about Vietnam. He had seen the country first when he shuttled between the French colonial war and the conflict in Korea as a correspondent. He assumed my interest was the sign of a producer being conscientious, but he also warned me not to get stuck in the quagmire of obsession with Vietnam. He had seen it happen to others.

  One night I said to him, “If Garwood was just an unimportant little turncoat, why do so many important people want to sit on him?”

  Bill groaned. “Don’t you have any other assignments?”

  “Yes, of course. I’d still like to clear this thing up, though. Do you think Garwood unwittingly got involved in our secret wars out there –?”

  “There were so many,” he said sharply. “Does any of it matter now?”

  His tone told me to expect more opposition from him on this. He was tired of Asia’s back-alley politics. But, like my father, he had the fighter pilot’s personality: impatient, opinionated, hostile to bureaucracy . . . This last prejudice gave me an idea. “It matters to the bureaucrats,” I said.

  “A political decision,” he interrupted, “closed the door on prisoners.”

  “Not necessarily,” I argued back. “A Republican president sat on policy. Democrats continued it.”

  Bill got the point. “When a policy survives both political parties,” he said, “the policy is set by bureaucracy.”

  I recognized a gleam in his eye. Maybe that hostility to authority would work in my favor for once. He asked if I’d got other bluesheets approved on the issue.

  “Not yet.”

  “And I’ll bet not ever!” he warned me. “Missing men are political dynamite. They give bureaucrats fainting spells. Don’t go beyond the tale of a Marine who got lost. If you want peace of mind, just stick to Garwood’s story!” Bill spoke with feeling. “I’d hate to see you sacrifice your career by chasing the dragon.”


  
CHAPTER 2

  “ROADBLOCKS” IN THE NAME OF NATIONAL SECURITY

  I had not pressed Bobby Garwood to give us the formal 60 Minutes interview because I was not sure he had enough self-control to deliver a concise and coherent account of things. In mid-May 1985 I was busy with other stories. Suddenly Garwood called. He wanted to see me. Alone.

  There was a new confidence in his voice. I took him to dinner at Chez Grand Mère on M Street and did what I was now sure the intelligence experts had never done. I let him just talk.

  In the Communist prison camps he was, he said, “broken down to the lowest form of animal.” Towards the beginning of his captivity, he was in solitary when another American was brought in. “Ike,” Garwood called him. “Captain, Special Forces . . . said I should learn the enemy’s language, to stay one step ahead. Ike taught me a Vietnamese word a day. Said it would keep me going. Said, if I survived, that was a victory. He showed me how to stay alive on bugs, lizards, plants. . . .”

  The Indiana high-school dropout who had joined the Marines at seventeen thus got his first solid dose of real education in a jungle hooch. These were some of the survival skills that were later held against Garwood.

  “One night,” he said, “Ike picked a star and said it was ours. We’d watch it and pretend our folks back home were watching it too. It kept me going after Ike died a year later.”

  Who was this Ike? Garwood hedged. “I’m going to see his daughter in a few days. I know where her dad’s buried. I buried him myself.”

  Why had he taken all this time since his release to face the daughter? I kept the question to myself. A wrong move now would make Garwood withdraw again.

  Much later Garwood was in a punishment cell “when I heard Henry Kissinger over the ‘Liars’ Box.’ That’s the loudspeaker the Vietnamese used to communicate with U.S. prisoners. He said the release of prisoners had been concluded. ‘There are no more live POWs in Vietnam.’

  “Other Americans were in hooches across the river. The Communists rebroadcast Kissinger.* He’d said we no longer existed. . . . The Communists said they could do what they pleased with us. They said why would we resist when our own government deserted us?”

  The Kissinger broadcast had dealt the prisoners a devastating blow. They concentrated on just staying alive after that. It was after this that Garwood got involved in the black market. He had many encounters with other American prisoners. It never left him, he said, that he had fellow countrymen in that God-forsaken place. And when he had finally passed a message to the Finn, Rahkonen, he had emphasized in it that there were other Americans like himself.

  Leaving Vietnam had been surreal. Originally Garwood was to be picked up by a U.S. military plane, but the Vietnamese and the U.S. concurred that was not a good idea. Garwood now speculated that if the U.S. had picked him up, as it had other POWs in 1973, that would have validated he was a POW. Instead, the impression was given that he was indeed a collaborator who had always been free to come and go. He was put on an Air France plane, whose crew turned him into an instant hero with champagne and caviar all the way to Thailand. It was his one moment of glory. In Bangkok he listened in stunned disbelief while a Marine gunnery sergeant read him his rights, then put him aboard a military aircraft with legal counsel. Why, Garwood wondered, am I being read my rights? But a military officer just kept repeating, “Don’t say anything. Shut up. Don’t say anything to anybody about anything.” Garwood says he tried to tell him about other American prisoners but claims that all he said was, “You want to get killed?”

  Garwood told me, “The one time anyone talked to me about what it had been like, being a prisoner, it was just after I got out. I tried then to discuss other Americans left behind – but they kept cutting me short.”

  This seemed true. Copies of an interview by the Marine Corps on March 29, 1979, and a one-page defense-intelligence “evaluation” said that Garwood “did not provide any new or potentially useful information.”

  There was a Moroccan waiter at the restaurant. Garwood spoke to him in Arabic. The waiter, who knew me, said, “It’s a pleasure to hear my native tongue well spoken.”

  I looked at Garwood. He seemed unaware of what had just happened. This was a man who had had little formal education when he went to Vietnam. “Where’d you learn Arabic?” I asked him.

  “In hospital. Men from the Palestine Liberation Organization were there. . . .” It was an explanation I had to accept. I found out later that in 1976, working in the motor pool of Prison Camp #5 close to the China border, Garwood suddenly became very ill. His captors took him to a hospital that seemed to him to be filled with Vietnam’s allies – Cubans, Russians, and Palestinians. He did not know why he received such good treatment. He thought perhaps they did not want to lose his skill in fixing and maintaining the equipment the Americans had left behind.

  His face lit up with renewed interest as I told him about a conversation I’d had with Walter Cronkite at CBS. Cronkite had asked Henry Kissinger, in 1973, to write to Hanoi and ask for information on twenty-one American journalists missing in Vietnam and Laos. Kissinger agreed, but inserted a curious sort of apology in the letter. He assured the Communists he had no basis for believing the missing were alive.

  I had asked Cronkite to confirm the accuracy of all this. He assured me there was no doubt about the record. He later tried to find out why Kissinger took such a defeatist attitude. Cronkite said, “Every time I’d see Kissinger at any social gathering, I’d ask him this. But I never got a satisfactory answer.”

  “You mean Kissinger would ignore a man like Walter Cronkite?” Garwood asked in an awed voice.

  We left the restaurant. A man who was lounging outside stirred, and began to follow. We stopped, forcing him to pass, and I recognized the same man I had confronted outside my house. He was joined by another man at the corner of M and Wisconsin and they both disappeared around the corner. There was something deliberate in the way they showed themselves to Garwood, but I said nothing and neither did he.

  Garwood walked me to the corner of M and 30th and said goodbye. I pressed him once more to commit himself to a film interview by the end of June, and unexpectedly, he said yes. I headed up 30th before he could change his mind.

  At home, I described the evening to Bill. “There he was, in the heart of our enemies. He spoke their language, he must have passed right through their military and prison system. It was like we had a spy all those years in the enemy camp. And we never asked him about it. Isn’t that weird?”

  Bill wanted to know more details about how Garwood himself made contact with a foreign diplomat. Was it set up? I didn’t know. I had not been in a position to cross-examine him. I would find out later, I said, feeling a trifle cross with myself and with my husband.

  “Garwood said live Americans are highly prized – they call them ‘pearls,’ because they may be valuable in any future bargaining.”

  Bill nodded and explained that French prisoners were “pearls” too, useful to sell one by one to Paris, for money, technical aid, even diplomatic recognition. When he was with the truce commission after the Battle of Dienbienphu in 1955 and 1956, the North Vietnamese showed Bill two French prisoners deep in the jungle. The Communists were proud of them as showpieces, and pretended they were not prisoners but converts. They were proof that Ho Chi Minh’s ideology was correct because they “voluntarily defected.” The Frenchmen hadn’t seen another Caucasian in years. They were from Paris. Bill thought they’d jump at the chance to ask questions, pass messages. . . . But all they did was recite propaganda. They were terrified to say one word out of place. At one point two jars of drinking water were placed between them. One prisoner’s hand shot out, then hesitated. His eyes shifted over Bill’s shoulder to a Chinese in a straw helmet who gave him a sharp nod. The hand finished its movement. They were prisoners, though the war with France had ended – and although the Communists called them converts.

  “Hanoi never reported those two men were alive,” Bill said after a pause. “I got the information to the French government. Twenty thousand of their soldiers were known to be still on the POW rolls. Hanoi would pass along a name and fix the price for the man’s release whenever the fancy took them. Paris has paid out a fortune, quietly getting some back. . . .”*

  During June 1985 I read through thousands of pages of testimony from Garwood’s court martial and spoke with many who were involved in the trial. There were no direct eyewitness descriptions of clearly disloyal behavior on his part.

  How was it possible for the Marine Corps to court martial Garwood and to find witnesses willing to testify against him? The answer lay in his unique talent for learning languages and the skills of survival that “Ike” Eisenbraun had taught him. Although those talents helped him to survive in an elemental way, they made his captors suspect he might be a provocateur sent to stir up resistance among the other prisoners. So from camp to camp they progressively isolated him from the other Americans. Eventually he was forced to live with his Vietnamese captors. He was devastated by the move, but the other POWs in that camp thought he was getting special treatment and special food and they would testify against him more than ten years later. The Vietnamese made him translate their orders and interrogations of his fellow POWs with the threat that both he and they would suffer if he disobeyed. Worst of all, they took him on working trips to outlying fields and made him carry their weapons just before they arrived at camp so that the other POWs would think he had taken up arms against his own countrymen – though no one ever saw him use the guns. This kind of trickery was well known to others who had been imprisoned by the Communists in Korea and China. Some American prisoners in one camp grew to despise him. One prisoner who knew better was Russ Grisset, who had been with Bobby and Ike Eisenbraun in the first camp after his capture. Then Grisset was beaten to death in front of the other prisoners in Bobby’s absence. When Bobby found out, he committed the act that would lead to a guilty finding at his court martial seven years later. Emotionally distraught at losing his only friend in the camp, he pushed fellow prisoner David Harker aside.

  The prosecution at his court martial described that action as “striking a fellow prisoner,” something considered by the military to be the most heinous crime an American prisoner can perpetrate on another. The truth was, as Harker readily admitted to me when I questioned him, that Garwood had indeed only pushed him. Harker said he had been uncomfortable with the emphasis the prosecution placed on this one incident, but he was still convinced Garwood was a traitor. Why else would he have lived with the Vietnamese guards and presumably gotten better treatment than his fellow countrymen? Harker was also convinced that when Bobby was moved from the camp the following year it was because he volunteered to throw in his lot with the Vietnamese. That impression was reinforced when he did not return with the other prisoners in 1973.

  Garwood had no interest in defending himself by telling tales on the prisoners who testified against him, but he now wanted to talk about other prisoners who had been left behind in 1973.

  Judge Switzer, the Marine colonel who presided over the court martial, told me that Garwood was never given a chance to disclose what he knew about any other prisoners. He was never debriefed in the same way as other prisoners. Usually the DIA or the CIA did that. All the other prisoners who came out in 1973 had talked with intelligence officers from the armed forces or the agencies.

  The military psychiatrist on the case said that Garwood, despite the pressures, insisted he had information on other American prisoners. “He was held in maximum security at the time, and so he felt he need not fear leaks reaching Hanoi to hurt other Americans there. He couldn’t understand why he was never questioned on what he knew.”

  Psychologist Edna Hunter, who had directed the POW center for the Department of Defense from 1971 to 1978, said she’d interviewed almost every prisoner who had returned in 1973. “And I interviewed the prosecution witnesses. None really wanted to testify against Garwood.” She concluded that lots of Americans were abandoned. “I knew reports about them had been suppressed. That’s why the prosecution stopped me testifying at the court martial.” She also told me, “There is no doubt that Garwood, like so many others, was set up by the Vietnamese. They deliberately kept him apart and spread the rumor that this prisoner was getting special treatment, that he had crossed over. Our government knew it. We all knew it.”

  The judge had not been shown photographs of Garwood in Vietnam, hands tied behind his back and under guard. “At least not until the court martial was over,” he told me. Was he surprised? “Well, it’s not the way I would have defended Garwood,” he said.

  I asked Roger Shields, who had directed the Defense Department Task Force on POWs in 1973, just what constituted collaboration for a prisoner. He said he didn’t know. I asked him if rumors were true that men captured after the ceasefire had been crossed off the list of prisoners for the 1973 homecoming. He said I should ask Kissinger why there had been such haste to run a line through the names of remaining prisoners. Kissinger never answered my calls, but he later conveyed a message through Diane Sawyer that it was all nonsense – there were no American prisoners.

  I asked the State Department if any action was taken on behalf of the other American prisoners after Garwood’s first communication with a diplomat in Hanoi.

  “We know of no ‘first communication.’”

  “Well, the second time.”

  “Garwood never mentioned other Americans.”

  “Did we take action then only because a friendly foreign government knew about Garwood?”

  “State does not comment on the confidential actions of friendly foreign governments.”

  “If there had not been a third government involved, would we have left Garwood to rot?”

  “No third government informed the U.S. government.”

  “Then why did Mr. Ossi J. Rahkonen tell me, yes, he was the Finn who transmitted the information?”

  Silence.

  “You can find him now at the World Bank,” I added. “Right here, in Washington.” I got no response.

  I went back to the Finn to ask if Garwood had indeed spoken of other American prisoners while in Hanoi.

  Rahkonen said the matter was “very complex.” Was I sure I wanted to get into such a touchy subject?

  “All I want to know,” I said, “is, did Garwood, in his message to you, refer to other American prisoners?” I supposed the Finn would say, “No.” It would mean Garwood really had invented this part of his story.

  The stuttered reply shook me. “Y-yes,” said Rahkonen.

  Why had State lied? Was it a simple matter of bureaucratic ineptitude or a concerted effort? A friend in State’s own Bureau of Intelligence and Research said there were internal memos concerning Garwood prior to his escape. One was a memo from the files of the National Security Council. “It says, ‘A live American defector has been sighted in Hanoi who claims he knows of other Americans alive in Vietnam,’” said my friend from the bureau. I wondered how they knew about Garwood. How did they know he was a defector?

  “State says it never heard about live Americans,” I challenged.

  “Yes – well, what most people don’t know are the details of the secret negotiations behind our leaving Vietnam. Nixon wanted to get the Paris peace agreement signed in 1973 before Watergate engulfed him, so he secretly promised more than four billion dollars’ worth of economic aid to Hanoi and took whatever prisoners they said they had. When the government reneged on the four-billion-dollar promise, Hanoi hung onto the remaining prisoners in retaliation, and as a means later of trying to get the money,” he said.

  My State Department friend claimed that, in the days following the 1973 official homecoming of prisoners, intelligence on those left behind was constant. The prisoners were known as “Brightlights” in intelligence code. “We wanted to just forget Vietnam and cut and run. No one wanted to hear about Garwood, and certainly nobody wanted him to come home and spill the beans about other American prisoners.” He spoke in anger. He had been a Marine in Vietnam. He was torn between loyalty to the department and a deep sense of injustice committed against his comrades in war. He guided me to the internal memos that bore out what he said: that Garwood had been gagged.

  A prosecution witness who talked to Garwood as part of the pre-trial procedure prior to the court martial deposed that Garwood had quoted the Communist security chief in Hanoi as saying to him on the day before his release: “We’ll let the rest of the prisoners go only when the U.S. pays those four billion dollars promised by President Nixon. We’re not so stupid as to turn over more prisoners for a promise and a bit of paper.” This testimony was disallowed at the trial as “irrelevant” and never appeared in court papers.

  An Assistant Director for Collection Management at the Defense Intelligence Agency, Commodore Thomas A. Brooks, told a Congressional inquiry, “Investigation of Garwood’s information has unproductively absorbed a great amount of our analytical resources.” In fact, DIA still had never debriefed him.

  Had the Central Intelligence Agency questioned Garwood? I tackled Johnny Shaheen, a New York oil man who was a close friend and former business partner of Bill Casey, at that time director of the CIA. Shaheen had carried out swashbuckling covert operations in World War II when Casey was in the London end of OSS (Office of Special Services), father of the CIA. At a midnight reception given by Shaheen, he passed me over to Casey, whom I already knew through my husband. “We left live casualties behind,” Casey said, “and I certainly would never pass up the chance to get them back.” He asked me to be patient: he would look into what I told him about Garwood. Casey never did give me a precise answer. The CIA had never reviewed Garwood’s years in Vietnam because, said Casey, the DIA was supposed to have done that already.

  No matter how I tried to limit inquiries to Garwood, I kept running into wider issues. I was puzzled by former POW Task Force head Roger Shields’s suggestion that Kissinger could tell me about claims that some men’s names had been crossed off the official list of POWs to be returned in 1973. Surely, I thought, he could not have meant names were crossed off by U.S. government officials. The Telephone Tree put me in touch with Florida police detective Bob Cressman, brother of Air Force Sergeant Peter R. Cressman, and the story he told was that this is exactly what happened.

  Sergeant Cressman was a Morse systems operator assigned to an EC-47Q “Flying Pueblo” reconnaissance (eavesdropping) aircraft. On February 5, 1973, while he was flying a mission on the Vietnam-Laos border, the EC-47Q was shot down. The shoot-down occurred nine days after the Paris peace accords were signed. Cressman had read the terms of the Paris Agreement and had realized that he and his colleagues were flagrantly violating the peace in a neutral country. He worried about the possibility of becoming involved in and responsible for war crimes. He visited the base legal office to find out what his rights and obligations were regarding the orders he was being given. He was told that he had no right to do anything but obey orders, even if they were illegal. The consequences of disobeying were so severe, he left the legal office feeling that disobedience was impossible.
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